FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
12/18/2024 2:59 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/19/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Case #: 1037104

NO.

(COA NO. 39046-2-III)

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

D.G.A.,

Petitioner.

FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR GRANT COUNTY

PETITION FOR REVIEW

CHRISTOPHER PETRONI
Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

D.G.A. asks this Court for review.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

D.G.A. asks for review of the decision of the Court of Appeals in *State v. D.G.A.*, No. 39046-2-III (Wash. Ct. App. Nov. 20, 2024).

C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The confidentiality of juvenile court records is key to assisting convicted youths in learning from past mistakes and building a healthy life. To that end, the Legislature allows convicted youths to move to seal and vacate their juvenile records. The statute precludes this relief for a youth who has outstanding restitution debt. However, this statute must be read alongside the juvenile justice act, which makes a youth's restitution obligations void and unenforceable after ten years.

Here, the Court of Appeals affirmed the denial of D.G.A.'s motion to seal because he owed scarcely more

than \$600 in restitution. The court held this debt precluded sealing even though it has been invalid and unenforceable for over a decade. This holding is contrary to the plain text of governing statutes, contravenes this Court's precedent, and erects an unfair disparity between indigent and affluent youths. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4). This Court should grant review.

In September 1999, at age 16, D.G.A. pleaded guilty to first-degree trafficking in stolen property, a class B felony. CP 19; RCW 9A.82.050(2). The juvenile court imposed restitution. CP 21.

The juvenile court closed the case in September 2000. CP 24. It noted D.G.A.'s restitution obligation would "remain open until: Ten years from respondent's 18th birthday which is August 25, 2011." CP 24. In

December 2002, the clerk entered a judgment for the remaining restitution, or \$613.74. CP 28.

In December 2021, well after ten years from entry of the outstanding restitution judgment, D.G.A. moved to seal his conviction and for a certificate of discharge. CP 5–6, 8–10. D.G.A. argued his restitution debt did not preclude this relief because it was no longer enforceable. CP 8–10. The juvenile court denied the motion because the "obligations to seal have not been met," including the outstanding restitution. RP 3; CP 1.

The Court of Appeals affirmed. Slip op. at 6.

E. WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

1. The Court of Appeals's reading of the juvenile sealing and vacatur statute contradicts the statutory text.

This Court's task in interpreting a statute is to determine the Legislature's intent. *State v. M.Y.G.*, 199 Wn.2d 528, 531, 509 P.3d 818 (2022). If the meaning of

the statute "is plain . . . , that ends the inquiry." In re

Pers. Restraint of Brooks, 197 Wn.2d 94, 100, 480 P.3d

399 (2021). This Court considers not only the provision
at issue, but also the surrounding context, "related

provisions, . . . and the statutory scheme as a whole."

State v. Conover, 183 Wn.2d 706, 711, 355 P.3d 1093

(2015) (quoting Ass'n of Wash. Spirits & Wine Distribs.

v. Wash. State Liquor Control Bd., 182 Wn.2d 342, 350, 340 P.3d 849 (2015)).

A youth convicted of a crime may move the trial court to "vacate its order and findings" and "order the sealing of the official juvenile court record." RCW 13.50.260(3). The types of "order and findings" that may be vacated include the youth's "adjudication"—i.e., conviction. *State v. Garza*, 200 Wn.2d 449, 456, 518 P.3d 1029 (2022).

The trial court must grant a motion to seal a conviction of a class B felony if, among other requirements, the youth "has paid the full amount of restitution owing to the individual victim named in the restitution order." RCW 13.50.260(4)(b)(v).

The juvenile justice act, meanwhile, provides a restitution "judgment remains enforceable for a period of 10 years." RCW 13.40.192(1). When juvenile jurisdiction ends, the "court clerk must docket the remaining balance of the juvenile's restitution in the same manner as other judgments for the payment of money." *Id.* "The judgment remains valid and enforceable until 10 years from the date of its imposition." *Id.*; accord In re Pers. Restraint of Brady, 154 Wn. App. 189, 197–98, 224 P.3d 842 (2010).

If a restitution judgment is "valid and enforceable" for only ten years, it follows that, once ten

years has elapsed, the judgment becomes *invalid* and *unenforceable*.

Read together, RCW 13.50.260 and RCW 13.40.192's plain text provides that an outstanding restitution judgment does not bar sealing and vacating a youth offense once ten years have passed. Br. of App. at 9–11. • Only restitution "owing to the individual victim" precludes sealing. RCW 13.50.260(4)(b)(v). However, after ten years, the restitution judgment is invalid and unenforceable, RCW 13.40.192(1)—it is no longer "owing" to anyone. Br. of App. at 9–12; Reply Br. of App. at 2, 4.

The Court of Appeals held that D.G.A.'s unpaid restitution balance barred sealing even though the restitution judgment is now void. Slip op. at 4–5. The court noted that RCW 13.50.260(1), which requires regularly scheduled administrative sealing hearings,

provides that "the court shall deny sealing the juvenile court record" if the youth "has not paid the full amount of restitution owing to the individual victim named in the restitution order." Slip op. at 3–4 (emphasis omitted) (quoting RCW 13.50.260(1)(f)). Because "shall" is a mandatory word, the court reasoned, the trial court must deny a sealing and vacatur motion if any restitution is unpaid. *Id.* at 4.

The Court of Appeals sidestepped D.G.A.'s observation that a restitution debt cannot be "owing" to anyone if it is invalid and unenforceable. *Id.* at 3–5. It does not matter whether the juvenile court "shall" refuse to seal a record based on outstanding restitution if the restitution debt is void. The Court of Appeals's reading simply fails to address D.G.A.'s argument.

The Court of Appeals reasoned it did not need to consider RCW 13.40.192 because RCW 13.50.260 is

"unambiguous." Slip op. at 4–5. •n the contrary, precedent required the court to consider "related provisions" and "the statutory scheme as a whole."

Conover, 183 Wn.2d at 711. A court cannot declare a statute "unambiguous" in isolation and disregard the effect that "related statutes" may have on its meaning.

Jametsky v. Olsen, 179 Wn.2d 756, 762, 317 P.3d 1003 (2014) (quoting Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, LLC, 146 Wn.2d 1, 11, 43 P.3d 4 (2002)).

The Court of Appeals's reading of the sealing and vacatur statute fails to reconcile its plain text with the related juvenile justice act. The important issue of when and under what circumstances juvenile courts may refuse to seal youth criminal convictions calls for this Court's review. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

2. The Court of Appeals's reading of the statute contradicts this Court's precedent.

This Court has held in the adult context that an unenforceable restitution debt is "void." State v. Gossage, 165 Wn.2d 1, 8, 195 P.3d 525 (2008). In Gossage, a convicted adult moved for a certificate of discharge of the obligations of his sentence "even though he did not pay his restitution obligations in full." Id. at 1. Like the juvenile justice act, the statute in effect at the time provided that legal financial obligations could be enforced for only ten years. Id. at 6-7. As ten years had passed, this Court held Mr. Gossage's restitution debt was "void"—that he "has no remaining LFOs." *Id.* at 8. Accordingly, the trial court erred in refusing to issue a certificate of discharge. *Id.*

If an unenforceable restitution debt is "void" under the adult statute in effect in *Gossage*, than a restitution debt that is unenforceable under the

juvenile justice act is "void" as well. Under *Gossage*, a restitution debt cannot preclude sealing of a juvenile court record once ten years have elapsed.

The Court of Appeals did not discuss—or even mention—this Court's opinion in *Gossage*. Slip op. at 3–6. Instead, it relied on its own decision in *State v*. *Hamedian*, 188 Wn. App. 560, 354 P.3d 937 (2015). *Id.* at 5. There, the court held, as it did here, that unpaid restitution bars a juvenile court from sealing a conviction. *Hamedian*, 188 Wn. App. at 571.

Like the opinion here, *Hamedian* overlooks that a void judgment is not "owing" to any person. *Hamedian* also distinguished *Gossage* on the incongruous basis that the greater need for confidentiality of juvenile records somehow weighed in favor of making the

sealing of those records *more* difficult than obtaining an adult certificate of discharge. *Id.* at 570–71.¹

Gossage controls. A void judgment is a void judgment, whether entered against a youth or an adult. D.G.A.'s restitution judgment was no longer "owing" to anyone after ten years elapsed, and did not preclude the juvenile court from sealing the record of his convictions. Br. of App. at 11–12; Reply Br. of App. at 1–2. The Court of Appeals's contrary conclusion is inconsistent with this Court's precedent. RAP 13.4(b)(1). This Court should grant review.

3. To prohibit sealing of juvenile court records based only on an invalid, unenforceable judgment imposes an unfair burden on indigent youth.

"The legislature has always treated juvenile court records as distinctive and as deserving of more confidentiality than other types of records." *State v.*

¹ Mr. Hamedian did not seek this Court's review.

S.J.C., 183 Wn.2d 408, 417, 352 P.3d 749 (2015). The earliest juvenile court legislation placed limits on the consequences of youth convictions and the public's access to youth criminal proceedings. Id. at 419–20 (citing Laws of 1913, ch. 160, § 10; Laws of 1905, ch. 18, § 3). Later enactments solidified the confidentiality of juvenile court records. Id. at 420–21 (citing, e.g., Laws of 1977, 1st Ex. Sess., ch. 291, §§ 10, 12).

Conviction records cause significant consequences to youths. "When juvenile court records are publicly available, former juvenile offenders face substantial barriers to reintegration, as they are denied housing, employment, and education opportunities on the basis of these records." Laws of 2014, ch. 175, § 1.

The Legislature has expressly found that "the interest in juvenile rehabilitation and reintegration constitutes compelling circumstances that outweigh

the public interest in continued availability of juvenile court records." Laws of 2014, ch. 175, § 1. It "designed the mechanism for sealing juvenile records specifically so juveniles can overcome prejudice and reintegrate into society." *State v. J.C.*, 192 Wn. App. 122, 132, 366 P.3d 455 (2016).

This clearly expressed statutory preference for sealing juvenile records and sparing youths a lifetime of consequences for a childhood mistake calls for interpreting RCW 13.50.260 in favor of sealing. See J.C., 192 Wn. App. at 133 (considering the statute's goals in interpreting its text). However, despite these clear indications of the Legislature's intent, the Court of Appeals held an invalid and unenforceable restitution debt precludes sealing. Slip op. at 6.

The Court of Appeals's reading of the statute sets up an unfair disparity between indigent youths and

those with means. Br. of App. at 14. To a well-off youth—or a youth with well-off parents—a \$613.74 restitution debt would pose no significant obstacle. The youth could easily satisfy the obligation and shed the "scarlet letter" of a juvenile conviction. Slip op. at 6.

To a poor youth, however, \$613.74 may as well be \$613,740. A youth with no realistic possibility of paying the debt will be saddled with the conviction for life, solely because of their poverty. Of course, youth of color are more likely both to be convicted of a crime and to be too poor to pay restitution. Heather Evans & Emily Knaphus-Soran, The Persistence of Racial Disparities in Juvenile Decline in Washington State, 2009–2022 at 1–2 (2024)²; Dep't of Children, Youth, & Families Office

² https://www.courts.wa.gov/subsite/mjc/docs/ 2024/2.4%20The%20Persistence%20of%20Juvenile%20 Declines%20in%20Washington%20State_4_9_2024.pdf.

of Juvenile Justice, *Social Challenges and Barriers*,

DCYF.wa.gov.³ Such an unfair reading of the statute
hardly promotes "the rehabilitation of former juvenile
offenders and their successful reintegration into
society." Laws of 2014, ch. 275, § 1.

Whether RCW 13.50.260 bars a youth with an unenforceable restitution debt from sealing and vacating their conviction—and therefore erects an unfair disparity between indigent and economically privileged youth—is an important issue that warrants this Court's attention. RAP 13.4(b)(4). This Court should grant review.

F. CONCLUSION

This Court should grant review.

³ https://dcyf.wa.gov/practice/practice-improvement/ojj/racial-ethnic-disparities/awareness/social-challenges.

Per RAP 18.17(c)(10), the undersigned certifies this petition for review contains 2,021 words.