FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/7/2025 10:00 AM BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

Supreme Court No: 103710-4 Court of Appeals No. 39046-2-III

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

## STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

v.

**D.G.A.**,

**Respondent.** 

### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

KEVIN J. McCRAE Prosecuting Attorney WSBA #43087

PO BOX 37 EPHRATA WA 98823 (509)754-2011

#

#### A. IDENTITY OF RESPONDING PARTY

The State of Washington is the plaintiff below and respondent in this petition.

#### **B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION**

As designated in the Petitioner's brief.

#### C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The legislature has made payment of restitution to individuals a requirement for sealing juvenile cases to encourage those payments. By the plain language of the statute and a decade old precedent this includes after those payments are no longer enforceable as a judgement. Three times in the past five years the legislature has addressed issues surrounding this requirement, and has not changed it. Should this court now rewrite the statute when the legislature has declined to do so?

#### **D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

D.G.A., who is currently serving an adult conviction for murder, moved the trial court to seal his juvenile convictions. The trial court denied the motion, ruling that D.G.A. had not paid the restitution to the individual victims in his cases. There is no dispute that D.G.A. has not paid the restitution.

#### E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

#### 1. Legislative action and history.

RCW 13.50.260(d) requires sealing if "the respondent is no longer on supervision for the case being considered for sealing **and has paid the full amount of restitution owing to the individual victim** named in the restitution order,..." (emphasis added). The plain language requires the respondent pay the restitution in order to have the case sealed. Just because the restitution owing is no longer enforceable as a judgement does not mean the victim has been recompensed for the crime, or that the defendant has paid.

This is the interpretation that has been held for ten years. *State v. Hamedian*, 188 Wn. App. 560, 354 P.3d 937 (2015). The legislature has repeatedly addressed the statute, including the specific portion of the statute in question, after *Hamedian*. Laws of 2020, Ch 184 § 1, Laws of 2023, Ch 180 § 1. They did not change the relevant language. "The legislature 'is presumed to be aware of judicial interpretation of its enactments,' and where statutory language remains unchanged after a court decision the court will not overrule clear precedent interpreting the same statutory language." *State v. Blake*, 197 Wn.2d 170, 190, 481 P.3d 521, 532 (2021).

In 2023, the legislature declared that juvenile legal financial obligations, except for restitution, were unenforceable, and the clerk could not collect them. Laws of 2023, Ch 449 § 20. In 2024, the legislature addressed the very issue D.G.A. is claiming the Court of Appeals misinterpreted in this case and *State v. Hamedian*, 188 Wn. App. 560, 354 P.3d 937 (2015). They addressed the issue for all other LFO's, but explicitly excluded restitution. Laws of 2024, Ch 38, is entitled Disposition of Unenforceable Juvenile Financial Obligations. This is "AN ACT Relating to the disposition of unenforceable legal obligations other than restitution..." The first section of the act relates to how a clerk enforces a restitution order against

a respondent. The second section directs the clerk to not accept payments for any legal obligations, other than restitution, and that all such debts shall be rendered null and void and considered paid in full. "A judgment against a juvenile for any legal financial obligation other than restitution..." If the legislature wanted restitution treated as D.G.A. alleges, they would have included it in this act, directing the clerk not to accept restitution payments and consider those payments fulfilled after the time period that they are enforceable judgements. They did not. Instead the legislature proved that they knew how to make legal financial obligations go completely away, and chose not to do that by explicitly excluding restitution in the act.

#### 2. This case does not meet the requirements for review.

D.G.A. cites to RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4) for reasons to accept review. However, the only case he cites to under RAP 13.4(b)(1) as conflicting is *State v. Gossage*, 165 Wn.2d 1, 8, 195 P.3d 525, 528 (2008). But as the Court of Appeals noted, *Gossage* addressed a different statute, with different language. In *Gossage* a certificate of discharge issued upon completion of all sentencing conditions, including legal finical obligations. The Court held that the expiration of the enforceability of the judgement for legal financial obligations meant that sentencing condition was met. But that is different language than the language in the juvenile sealing statute, which requires that restitution actually be paid to the individuals to whom it is owned. *Gossage* is easily distinguishable, and thus does not conflict with *Hamedian* and *D.G.A.* 

Nor is this an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. It may be debatable how substantial this issue is. However, what is clear is the Supreme Court is not the correct entity to determine the issue. As *Gossage* noted, there is a tension between two public policy issues, the need to provide an offender with a fresh start, and the need to encourage payment of restitution to make the victim as whole as possible. It is the legislature that is the

5

correct entity to determine this balance. And they have. The legislature has addressed this issue and this statute several times over the last few years. They had *Hamedian* they could have overruled at any time. They told the clerks to consider all other legal financial obligations closed and to be considered paid in full, yet explicitly left out restitution. They also allowed respondents to seal their records if the only restitution owed was to insurance companies or public entities, again striking a balance as to whom it is more important to encourage recompense through restitution. The legislature clearly felt that LFO's remained on the books, even after they were no longer enforceable, and came up with a procedure to remove them, except for restitution. If D.G.A.'s position was correct then Laws of 2024, Ch 38 would have been completely unnecessary.

#### 3. There is no equal protection issue.

The statute does not create any sort of equal protection issue. The legislature wants to encourage payment of all restitution. D.G.A. has made no showing that he is incapable of

6

working or paying LFO's. The reason he cannot pay LFO's at the current time is that he murdered an old man while robbing him and so is incarcerated. Committing murder is hardly a valid reason to forgive restitution owed for another crime. D.G.A. may or may not be unable to pay in the future. If he pays the restitution, he is free to refile his motion. There simply is no equal protection issue in this case.

#### **F. CONCLUSION**

The plain language of RCW 13.50.260(d) clearly states that sealing is not permitted if restitution has not been paid to individuals. This plain language was interpreted and upheld by the Court of Appeals in *Hamedian*. The legislature has addressed the issue repeatedly since that case was decided, yet did not overrule it. There is no case in conflict with the Court of Appeals decision, and the legislature is the proper entity to decide the policy issue in question here. The petition for review should be denied.

7

This document contains 1178 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.